

# **STUMBLING BLOCKS**

Identifying and Overcoming Older Adults' Barriers to Physical Activity

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Issue in Focus
Belief & Preference Barriers 3
Low Awareness
Lack of Knowledge 4
Personal Preferences
Physical Ability Barriers
Risk of Injury
Chronic Conditions and Mobility Limitations
Psychosocial Barriers
Low Self-Efficacy
Negative Perceptions of Aging 9
Perceived Norms
Lack of Social Interaction
Loneliness
Social Anxiety
Delayed Gratification
Interaction between Barriers
Conclusion
Recommendations and Takeaways
References

# **ISSUE IN FOCUS**

Understanding why more than half of older adults do not meet recommended activity levels... requires identifying the barriers that are keeping them from being more physically active. In relation to health and wellness, the value of physical activity cannot be overstated. Staying physically active is associated with reduced risk of heart disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes, and certain forms of cancer; greater longevity, mobility, and cognitive function (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2008); and can even result in greater happiness (Zhang & Chen, 2019). In addition, development of health conditions due to inadequate physical activity is estimated to account for about 11% of health care spending in the US (Carlson, Fulton, Pratt, Yang, & Adams, 2015). In short, physical activity helps individuals of all ages feel better and live longer. Then why do only 54% of Americans meet daily recommendations for physical activity (CDC, 2020)? And for those age 65 to 74, this drops to 43% and continues to decline for older age groups (Gorina, 2016).

Understanding why more than half of older adults do not meet recommended activity levels—despite the numerous health benefits—requires identifying the barriers that are keeping them from being more physically active. Because environmental barriers, such as walkability of one's neighborhood or availability of recreational facilities, are difficult to address at the individual level, this paper will focus on barriers related to older adults' beliefs regarding physical activity, individual physical ability, and psychosocial factors.

The environment of a senior living community is more controllable than the surrounding community, so having an understanding of these barriers will be particularly useful to senior living providers. Wellness directors can use this information to devote attention to identifying what may be preventing residents from being more active and adapting residents' environment to be conducive to physical activity.



# **BELIEF & PREFERENCE BARRIERS**

### **LOW AWARENESS**

The first step to being more physically active is often just being aware of how active one should be and of what programs are available. For example, among older adults eligible for membership in a free or low-cost fitness program, the most commonly reported barrier to joining was a lack of awareness of the program (Bethancourt, Rosenberg, Beatty, & Arterburn, 2014). It may seem obvious that being unaware of a program would prevent someone from joining, but does raising awareness actually improve participation? This appears to be the case, as one of the most common motivators for joining a physical activity program is having received marketing materials about the program (Biedenweg et al., 2014). While cost and proximity are considerations for community-dwelling older adults, programs within a senior living



community are generally easy for residents to access, so the first step in getting residents engaged is to utilize information-sharing systems (e.g., community calendars) to provide an accurate program description.

### LACK OF KNOWLEDGE

Older adults also report a lack of knowledge about appropriate exercise or lack of instruction from their doctor as barriers to physical activity (Dobson et al., 2016; Dohrn, Ståhle, & Roaldsen, 2015). In fact, physicians may be less likely to recommend exercise to older adults than to those in middle age. In a study of over 30,000 middle-age and older adults diagnosed with arthritis, researchers found that physicians were less likely to recommend physical activity to older adults to help manage this condition, compared to patients age 45 to 64 (Austin, Qu, & Shewchuk, 2013). Low-income older adults were even less likely to receive the recommendation.

Improving knowledge, on the other hand, has been shown to improve physical activity levels in older adults. In one example, an active learning intervention helped Japanese older adults enhance their knowledge of how to live healthy lives through training sessions and homework assignments on topics such as options for exercising indoors when the weather is poor, resistance training, knowledge of malnutrition, intellectual training, and other health-related topics. This was shown to significantly improve per-day step count, physical activity level, and physical function, in addition to improvements in health literacy, cognitive function, and diet, compared to a control group that did not participate in the active learning intervention (Uemura, Yamada, & Okamoto, 2018). This parallels research in younger adults that suggests the most effective physical activity interventions are those that provide information and instruction for physical activity, as well as opportunities to practice the activity (Bull et al., 2018).



... there are options other than going to the gym to make exercise more enjoyable, such as dancing, walking with friends, or even pickleball. Based on this evidence, there are likely residents who would otherwise enjoy or at least be motivated to participate in more programs, but they lack the right knowledge of how to exercise safely and effectively. Offering training or health information sessions to new residents and providing extra instruction to residents who are just beginning an activity program may be one solution. Providing timely information about alternative activity options may be another solution for residents who are undergoing age-related changes. In addition, older adults can access numerous virtual resources with nothing more than an internet-connected computer or smartphone. Online health literacy classes may be an option to help older adults start on a physical activity program and learn appropriate exercises, all from their own home.

### **PERSONAL PREFERENCES**

Structured exercise, such as working out at a gym or running on a treadmill, is not for everyone, so a dislike of exercise just for the sake of exercise is not uncommon. Not surprisingly then, some older adults cite a lack of motivation or a dislike of structured exercise as barriers to physical activity (Bethancourt et al., 2014; Dobson et al., 2016; Dohrn et al., 2015). Furthermore, most older adults report that enjoyment of the activity is the main reason they engage in physical activity, while any other type of benefit is secondary (Kosteli, Williams, & Cumming, 2016). In one example of an intervention to make exercise more enjoyable through gamification (in which participants work toward quests/goals, complete daily challenges, and earn points and badges), older adults in the gamified group reported greater engagement, motivation, and enjoyment in physical activity, compared to a group that only used a fitness tracker (Kappen, Mirza-Babaei, & Nacke, 2018). However, the sample size in this study was small, so further research is needed. Although dislike of exercise or low enjoyment are significant barriers to physical activity, there are options other than going to the gym to make exercise more enjoyable, such as dancing, walking with friends, or even pickleball.



Active older adults tend to be mindful of the positive experiences associated with being active, so there is potential for encouraging inactive older adults to do the same. For example, interviews with active older adults revealed they tend to associate exercise with enjoying the sights and smells of being outdoors, feeling the wind rush by (or water when swimming), or the feeling of flow (Phoenix & Orr, 2014). Similarly, interviews of a small sample of older rock climbers and kayakers suggested that these adventurers savor this type of serious leisure activity and reflect on their accomplishments to prolong the positive feelings associated with physical activity (Hickman, Stokes, Gammon, Beard, & Inkster, 2016). In a study of a slightly younger sample of adults (average age 50) who exercise at a YMCA facility, those who had a higher ability to focus on the present and actively attend to personal experiences were more likely to maintain continuous physical activity throughout the year (Ulmer, Stetson, & Salmon, 2010). Future research may focus on how encouraging inactive older adults to be more attentive to the positive experiences of physical activity can help in reducing barriers.

While finding activities that residents enjoy is important, there is also potential to help them learn to like exercise by focusing on positive experiences and sensations in the moment, and reflecting on these feelings afterward. There is also opportunity to add a virtual component to a physical activity plan. Smartphone applications can use gamification to make exercise more interactive by helping users track goals and earn virtual rewards or medals.

# **PHYSICAL ABILITY BARRIERS**

...almost a third of assisted living residents have a fear of falling when using community outdoor areas.

#### **RISK OF INJURY**

Perceptions that there is a potential for injury when exercising is another consideration older adults take into account. Studies have shown that a fear of injury or a fear of falling is often reported as a barrier to physical activity (Bethancourt et al., 2014; Cousins, 2000; Franco et al., 2015). In another study that used activity trackers to monitor participants' activity levels, older adults who reported a high fear of falling recorded fewer steps per day and engaged in less low, moderate, or vigorous physical activity compared to those with a low fear of falling (Sawa et al., 2018). Fear of injury can even be exacerbated by having a mobility limitation-older adults who have a mobility limitation are significantly more likely than those without a limitation to report a fear of falling, injury, or negative experiences as barriers to physical activity (Rasinaho, Hirvensalo, Leinonen, Lintunen, & Rantanen, 2007). Often, one of the reasons older adults move to a senior living community is out of concern for their health, so this barrier may be particularly relevant in these communities. In support of this, research suggests that almost a third of assisted living residents have a fear of falling when using community outdoor areas (Lee, Lee, & Rodiek, 2019). Even though these environments can be very safe, the perception that there is a risk of injury from exercising is important to address.



...older adults report that they are motivated to exercise in order to avoid developing mobility limitations.

## **CHRONIC CONDITIONS AND MOBILITY LIMITATIONS**

Increased fatigability, frailty, pain, and disablement can present significant barriers to activity. Older adults often report that chronic ailments, aches and pains, extended recovery time, and overall poor health can make it difficult to be physically active (Bethancourt, et al., 2014; Biedenweg et al., 2014; Rasinaho et al., 2007). Likewise, for those living with chronic conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis or hip or knee osteoarthritis, the resulting pain, stiffness, and fatigue can become significant barriers (Dobson et al., 2016; van Zanten et al., 2015). And perhaps not surprisingly, those with mobility limitations tend to be less physically active than those without limitations (Rasinaho et al., 2007). Not only can these symptoms make it more difficult to exercise, but older adults may also fear exercise will exacerbate the symptoms.

While some people see physical limitations and chronic conditions as risks or barriers, others view these as motivators to being active. For example, some older adults report that they are motivated to exercise in order to avoid developing mobility limitations, or even as a way to manage pain or other conditions (Bethancourt et al., 2014; Franco et al., 2015). Additionally, managing health and conditions like osteoarthritis are important motivators to stay physically active for many older women (Dohrn et al., 2016). Reframing physical activity as a facilitator of function rather than a barrier to overcome may encourage senior living residents to exercise more.

# **PSYCHOSOCIAL BARRIERS**

...older adults who report less positive perceptions of aging tend to be less physically active.

#### **LOW SELF-EFFICACY**

One of the primary psychosocial barriers to physical activity is having low self-efficacy (or confidence in one's ability) for exercise. Low self-efficacy is directly related to low levels of physical activity in older adults (White, Wójcicki, & McAuley, 2011) and is related to having lower outcome expectations (e.g., perceiving fewer health benefits of exercise) and setting fewer fitness goals, which in turn reduces the likelihood that older adults will be active (Anderson, Wojcik, Winett, & Williams, 2006; Ayotte, Margrett, & Hicks-Patrick, 2010). However, older adults are able to improve their self-efficacy over time, which leads to more engagement in physical activity (McAuley et al., 2007; White et al., 2011). There are a variety of interventions to improve self-efficacy, but caution is needed before implementing, since research suggests that techniques used for younger adults are not as effective for older adults, possibly due to differing priorities and lifestyles or cognitive decline (French, Olander, Chisholm, & McSharry, 2014). More research is needed to identify the most effective strategies to improve selfefficacy in older adults.

#### **NEGATIVE PERCEPTIONS OF AGING**

Having a less positive view of aging may deter older adults from engaging in physical activity. These people may be more likely to believe decline in physical function is an inevitable part of aging and that exercise would do little to change this. Research has shown that older adults who report less positive perceptions of aging tend to be less physically active (Sarkisian, Prohaska, Wong, Hirsch, & Mangione, 2005), participate in fewer sports and walk less (Wurm, Tomasik, & Tesch-Römer, 2010), and engage in

less strenuous activity (Meisner, Weir, & Baker, 2013). One study found differences according to gender; less positive views on aging were related to less physical activity in older women but not for men (Andrews et al., 2017).

On the bright side, older adults who develop more positive perceptions of aging over time tend to become more physically active (Beyer, Wolff, Warner, Schüz, & Wurm, 2015). Additionally, interventions that target perceptions of aging have shown that improvements in positive perceptions of aging are associated with increases in weekly physical activity (Wolff, Warner, Ziegelmann, & Wurm, 2014), as well as taking more steps per week among sedentary older adults (Sarkisian, Prohaska, Davis, & Weiner, 2007). There is even evidence that perceptions of aging improve after older adults complete a physical activity intervention (Klusmann, Evers, Schwarzer, & Heuser, 2012), suggesting a potential upward spiral effect.

#### **PERCEIVED NORMS**

A youth-focused culture and widely held negative stereotypes of older adults may also discourage older adults from being more physically active. For example, older women recognize the societal pressures to stay sedentary, such as through the overabundance of seated activities offered for older adults and encouragement from family and friends to remain seated rather than being active (Chastin, Fitzpatrick, Andrews, & DiCroce, 2014). In a study of 18 women with osteoporosis, participants reported that family members sometimes discouraged them from physical activity, mostly out of concern for their well-being (Dohrn et al., 2016). Similarly, while current norms generally encourage exercise, older adults may have experienced a different norm for much of their lives and have not been able to break that habit. For example, some older women report that when they were younger, it was expected that girls should not exercise (Bethancourt et al., 2014).

...improvements in positive perceptions of aging are associated with increases in weekly physical activity. Many older adults report that what motivates them to be active is the social interaction aspect of group exercise. However, perceived norms can have the opposite effect as well. Seeing one's peers staying active can be very influential. For example, having a spouse who consistently engages in or improves their physical activity can lead to improvements in one's own physical activity (Jackson, Steptoe, & Wardle, 2015). Additionally, older adults with greater social capital (i.e., larger social networks, more friends, and more participation in social groups) tend to be more physically active, as measured by an activity tracker, compared to older adults with low social capital (Ho, Hawkley, Dale, Waite, & Huisingh-Scheetz, 2018). In senior living, initial evidence suggests that residents living in a community that has a more developed culture of wellness engage in more physical activity (O'Brien, Smith, Bihary, O'Connor, & Basic, 2019).

### LACK OF SOCIAL INTERACTION

For older adults, having a workout partner is much more than just having someone to provide motivation; it's a valuable opportunity for social interaction. Many older adults report that what motivates them to be active is the social interaction aspect of group exercise (Bethancourt et al., 2014), and this is a common finding among studies investigating physical activity in older adults (Franco et al., 2015). Even having a larger network of friends is associated with greater physical activity (Watt et al., 2014). While social interaction can serve as a motivational component, some older adults specifically identify not having an exercise partner as a barrier to being active (Kosteli et al., 2016), and this is particularly true for older adults with mobility limitations (Rasinaho et al., 2007). One explanation for this finding is the shift in priorities as one grows older. Although they recognize that support from friends and family is helpful, younger adults tend to view exercise as a solitary activity. Older adults, on the other hand, tend to view exercise as a meaningful opportunity for social interaction (Steltenpohl, Shuster, Peist, Pham, & Mikels, 2018). At this point in life, older adults tend to focus less on being physically fit and more on staying connected.



While older adults may prefer in-person social interaction, using social media to share workouts, achievements, and activity data means that even solitary workouts can have a social component. Video calling technologies make it possible to exercise with anyone in the world at any time. Connecting for a home-workout over video could be a great way for residents to stay in touch with friends outside the community. Even live virtual group training sessions can add a social component to a workout.

### LONELINESS

Longitudinal studies have suggested that greater loneliness is associated with higher odds of being physically inactive two to three years later (Hawkley, Thisted, & Cacioppo, 2009; Luo & Waite, 2014). A recent review of similar studies suggested that the association between loneliness and physical activity may be stronger for women than men, but that more work needs to be done to support the overall association of loneliness and physical activity (Smith, Banting, Eime, O'Sullivan, & Van Uffelen, 2017). One of the more recent investigations found that social isolation, but not loneliness, was associated with less daily physical activity and more sedentary time for older adults (Schrempft, Jackowska, Hamer, & Steptoe, 2019), so more research is needed before drawing conclusions on this topic.

### **SOCIAL ANXIETY**

While many older adults enjoy the social aspect of physical activity, some have expressed a concern over social awkwardness in group settings. Being unfamiliar with other group members and worrying that they do not fit in are occasionally reported as barriers to physical activity (Biedenweg et al., 2014; Franco et al., 2015). Even the atmosphere of the typical gym can be intimidating, and older adults sometimes feel judged by others in this environment (Bethancourt et al., 2014; Cousins, 2000). Similarly, having a poor self-image in comparison to younger or more fit gym-goers Finding ways to make physical activity more enriching will be important to help older adults become more self-motivated to be active. can be a barrier to being physically active (Dobson et al., 2016; Kosteli et al., 2016), and at least one study suggests this may be more common among older men, as physical strength (which declines with age) is associated with masculinity (Baker & Gringart, 2009). Compared to other barriers, however, having a poor self-image is typically reported by a small proportion of older adults and is not consistent across cultures; it is more common for European Americans than for Mexican Americans (Dergance et al., 2003). In senior living settings, where residents primarily exercise with their peers, social anxiety may be an even less common barrier, but more research will need to confirm this.

### **DELAYED GRATIFICATION**

Many of the health benefits from physical activity aren't noticeable after one workout session, and others, like prevention of mobility limitations, can be difficult to identify at all. Adults vary in their ability to delay gratification from activities or rewards, and this could be one reason some older adults do not engage in physical activity. One study found that older adults who tend to prefer immediate over delayed rewards (e.g., receiving \$5 now vs \$50 a week later) are less likely to engage in vigorous physical activity (Tate, Tsai, Landes, Rettiganti, & Lefler, 2015). These older adults perceive lower value in future rewards, and thus may not recognize the long-term benefits of physical activity. However, certain immediate rewards may act as barriers also. For example, some research suggests that offering a financial incentive may deter older adults from joining a physical activity program (Tambor, Pavlova, Golinowska, Arsenijevic, & Groot, 2016). Finding ways to make physical activity more enriching will be important to help older adults become more self-motivated to be active.



The presence of one barrier can even result in additional barriers.

### **INTERACTION BETWEEN BARRIERS**

Some older adults may appear to face few barriers to physical activity, but there are situations where one or two barriers may negate the positive influences of other factors. One example comes from a study of older adults who live in neighborhoods where it is either easy or difficult to walk from place to place. Social support is typically beneficial for physical activity, but this study found that when neighborhood walkability was low, older adults tended to have low levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity even when social support was high. In highly walkable neighborhoods, however, older adults were more likely to be active in general, but high social support improved activity levels even more (Carlson et al., 2012). This study also found a similar pattern for low walkability limiting the beneficial effects of self-efficacy.

Another study found a similar interaction between social support and self-efficacy. Having a lot of support from family or friends to exercise helped to boost the effects of self-efficacy, but having no support tended to deter older adults from exercise even when they reported high self-efficacy (Warner, Ziegelmann, Schüz, Wurm, & Schwarzer, 2011).

The presence of one barrier can even result in additional barriers. For example, older adults living with chronic conditions tend to also face barriers related to a lack of knowledge about how to exercise safely with the condition, poor self-image, and low optimism (Dobson et al., 2016). Similarly, older adults with mobility limitations are not only less physically active than those with moderate or no mobility issues, but are also more likely to report poor health, fear of negative experiences, unsuitable environment, and lack of company as barriers to exercise (Rasinaho et al., 2007). Although it can be difficult to account for every barrier an older adult may face, having a better understanding of how barriers are interrelated is important for developing a plan to reduce barriers. While it may be difficult to alter chronic conditions or mobility issues, targeting related barriers may help to reduce the overall impact of these conditions.

# CONCLUSION

Concentrating on making fitness a norm for people of all ages will also help older adults stay active or give them the confidence to become active. Older adults face numerous barriers to being more physically active. Some, like physical limitations, are difficult to change, while others such as social anxiety or perceptions of aging seem more fluid. In either case, the first step is enhancing older adults' knowledge of available programming and providing education on how to stay active when living with chronic conditions or mobility limitations. Residents of senior living communities are likely kept up to date with program offerings throughout the community, but they may benefit from more focus on health literacy and education about how to exercise safely. This also ties in with improving self-efficacy and perceptions of aging, which are key in helping residents believe they can be active and that getting older doesn't necessarily mean slowing down. Even framing physical activity as a strategy to prevent or manage health conditions can be helpful. Concentrating on making fitness a norm for people of all ages will also help older adults stay active or give them the confidence to become active. Considering the strong connection between social interaction and physical activity, senior living environments have an advantage in this area and should take every opportunity to blend social and physical activities. Virtual exercise sessions can even be used to connect to adults outside the community or when in-person sessions are not feasible.

Individual differences in ability and preferences for exercise should not be ignored. Even residents' personalities can play a role. For example, among independent living residents, those who scored higher in extraversion and conscientiousness and lower in neuroticism were more physically active (Artese, Ehley, Sutin, & Terracciano, 2018). While personality generally does not change, recognizing those residents who may be more reluctant to exercise may be helpful in finding the right activity for them.



Similarly, finding ways to enhance enjoyment in physical activity is very important, potentially through offering alternatives to structured exercise or helping residents identify the positive experiences associated with exercise.

While barriers and motivators to physical activity been heavily researched, there are still many unanswered questions. Most research focuses on community-dwelling older adults, and in many cases, it is unclear if findings apply to senior living residents in the same way. Additionally, most healthy aging interventions only focus on one domain of behavior and only recruit older adults with few health conditions (Lachman, Lipsitz, Lubben, Castaneda-Sceppa, & Jette, 2018). Among interventions that do focus on more than one dimension of wellness, most are limited to adults under age 80 and many are not high-quality research (Seah et al., 2018). Future research will need to address these limitations, investigate other barriers to physical activity, and work to translate findings about younger adults into applications in older adult populations. One promising investigation is the Age Well Study, a five-year longitudinal study of Life Plan Community residents' well-being, which collected data on six of the most common barriers to physical activity with the aim of better understanding how these barriers apply to senior living residents (Mather Institute, 2019).

# **RECOMMENDATIONS AND TAKEAWAYS**

- 1. GET THE WORD OUT: Residents won't join a program if they don't know about it.
- 2. ENHANCE KNOWLEDGE: Make sure residents know what options are safe for them to do and give extra attention to teaching them how to exercise. Be sure instructors are knowledgeable.
- 3. **GET CREATIVE**: Add unique components to structured exercise programs to make them more engaging and offer alternative activities.
- 4. **GET SOCIAL:** Offer group activities whenever possible and incorporate opportunities to socialize or engage in friendly competition. Make extra effort to welcome and integrate new or prospective members into the group.
- 5. LEARN TO LOVE EXERCISE: Encourage residents to reflect on the positive experiences of a physical activity session. This helps to make exercise more immediately rewarding and encourage future participation.
- 6. **ELIMINATE IMPOSSIBILITIES:** Promote exercise as a way to prevent or manage chronic conditions or physical limitations, rather than as a source of pain or potential injury.
- 7. **BUILD CONFIDENCE:** Improve self-efficacy by identifying strategies to reduce barriers, building social support, and setting graded tasks.
- 8. ALTER PERCEPTIONS OF AGING: Having a more positive outlook on aging helps to have a more positive outlook on one's physical capabilities.
- 9. **SET THE NORM**: Address residents' backgrounds and promote a culture of fit and active older adults.

# REFERENCES

Anderson, E. S., Wojcik, J. R., Winett, R. A., & Williams, D. M. (2006). Social-cognitive determinants of physical activity: the influence of social support, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and self-regulation among participants in a church-based health promotion study. *Health Psychology*, 25(4), 510.

Andrews, R. M., Tan, E. J., Varma, V. R., Rebok, G. W., Romani, W. A., Seeman, T. E., ... & Carlson, M. C. (2017). Positive aging expectations are associated with physical activity among urban-dwelling older adults. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(suppl\_2), S178-S186.

Artese, A., Ehley, D., Sutin, A. R., & Terracciano, A. (2017). Personality and actigraphymeasured physical activity in older adults. *Psychology and aging*, 32(2), 131.

Austin, S., Qu, H., & Shewchuk, R. M. (2013). Age bias in physicians' recommendations for physical activity: a behavioral model of healthcare utilization for adults with arthritis. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 10(2), 222-231.

Ayotte, B. J., Margrett, J. A., & Hicks-Patrick, J. (2010). Physical activity in middle-aged and young-old adults: the roles of self-efficacy, barriers, outcome expectancies, self-regulatory behaviors and social support. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 15(2), 173-185.

Baker, L., & Gringart, E. (2009). Body image and self-esteem in older adulthood. Ageing & Society, 29(6), 977-995.

Bethancourt, H. J., Rosenberg, D. E., Beatty, T., & Arterburn, D. E. (2014). Barriers to and facilitators of physical activity program use among older adults. *Clinical Medicine & Research*, 12(1-2), 10-20.

Beyer, A. K., Wolff, J. K., Warner, L. M., Schüz, B., & Wurm, S. (2015). The role of physical activity in the relationship between self-perceptions of ageing and self-rated health in older adults. *Psychology & Health*, 30(6), 671-685.

Biedenweg, K., Meischke, H., Bohl, A., Hammerback, K., Williams, B., Poe, P., & Phelan, E. A. (2014). Understanding older adults' motivators and barriers to participating in organized programs supporting exercise behaviors. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 35(1), 1-11.

Bull, E. R., McCleary, N., Li, X., Dombrowski, S. U., Dusseldorp, E., & Johnston, M. (2018). Interventions to Promote Healthy Eating, Physical Activity and Smoking in Low-Income Groups: a Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis of Behavior Change Techniques and Delivery/Context. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 25(6), 605-616.

Carlson, J. A., Sallis, J. F., Conway, T. L., Saelens, B. E., Frank, L. D., Kerr, J., ... & King, A. C. (2012). Interactions between psychosocial and built environment factors in explaining older adults' physical activity. *Preventive Medicine*, *54*(1), 68-73.

Carlson, S. A., Fulton, J. E., Pratt, M., Yang, Z., & Adams, E. K. (2015). Inadequate physical activity and health care expenditures in the United States. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, *57*(4), 315-323.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020). Trends in meeting the 2008 physical activity guidelines, 2008—2018. Physical Activity Data and Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/data/index.html

Chastin, S. F., Fitzpatrick, N., Andrews, M., & DiCroce, N. (2014). Determinants of sedentary behavior, motivation, barriers and strategies to reduce sitting time in older women: a qualitative investigation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *11*(1), 773-791.

Cousins, S. O. B. (2000). "My heart couldn't take it": Older women's beliefs about exercise benefits and risks. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B*, 55(5), P283-P294.

Dergance, J. M., Calmbach, W. L., Dhanda, R., Miles, T. P., Hazuda, H. P., & Mouton, C. P. (2003). Barriers to and benefits of leisure time physical activity in the elderly: differences across cultures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *51*(6), 863-868.

Dobson, F., Bennell, K. L., French, S. D., Nicolson, P. J., Klaasman, R. N., Holden, M. A., ... & Hinman, R. S. (2016). Barriers and facilitators to exercise participation in people with hip and/ or knee osteoarthritis: synthesis of the literature using behavior change theory. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 95(5), 372-389.

Dohrn, I. M., Ståhle, A., & Roaldsen, K. S. (2016). "You have to keep moving, be active": perceptions and experiences of habitual physical activity in older women with osteoporosis. *Physical Therapy*, *96*(3), 361-370.

Franco, M. R., Tong, A., Howard, K., Sherrington, C., Ferreira, P. H., Pinto, R. Z., & Ferreira, M. L. (2015). Older people's perspectives on participation in physical activity: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative literature. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(19), 1268-1276.

French, D. P., Olander, E. K., Chisholm, A., & McSharry, J. (2014). Which behaviour change techniques are most effective at increasing older adults' self-efficacy and physical activity behaviour? A systematic review. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *48*(2), 225-234.

Gorina, Y. (2016). QuickStats: Percentage of adults aged  $\geq 65$  years meeting 2008 federal guidelines for leisure-time aerobic and muscle-strengthening activities, by age and type of activity—United States, 2000–2002 and 2013–2015. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65(37), 1019.

Hawkley, L. C., Thisted, R. A., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2009). Loneliness predicts reduced physical activity: cross-sectional & longitudinal analyses. *Health Psychology*, 28(3), 354

Hickman, M., Stokes, P., Gammon, S., Beard, C., & Inkster, A. (2018). Moments like diamonds in space: savoring the ageing process through positive engagement with adventure sports. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *21*(5), 612-630.

Ho, E. C., Hawkley, L., Dale, W., Waite, L., & Huisingh-Scheetz, M. (2018). Social capital predicts accelerometry-measured physical activity among older adults in the US: a cross-sectional study in the National Social Life, Health, and Aging Project. *BMC public health*, *18*(1), 804.

Jackson, S. E., Steptoe, A., & Wardle, J. (2015). The influence of partner's behavior on health behavior change: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 175(3), 385-392.

Kappen, D., Mirza-Babaei, P., & Nacke, L. (2018, January). Gamification of Older Adults' Physical Activity: An Eight-Week Study. *In Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*.

Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., & Heuser, I. (2012). Views on aging and emotional benefits of physical activity: Effects of an exercise intervention in older women. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 13(2), 236-242.

Kosteli, M. C., Williams, S. E., & Cumming, J. (2016). Investigating the psychosocial determinants of physical activity in older adults: a qualitative approach. *Psychology & Health*, *31*(6), 730-749.

Lachman, M. E., Lipsitz, L., Lubben, J., Castaneda-Sceppa, C., & Jette, A. M. (2018). When adults don't exercise: Behavioral strategies to increase physical activity in sedentary middle-aged and older adults. *Innovation in Aging*, 2(1), igy007. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igy007

Lee, S., Lee, C., & Rodiek, S. (2019). Outdoor exposure and perceived outdoor environments correlated to fear of outdoor falling among assisted living residents. *Aging & Mental Health*, 1-9.

Mather Institute (2019). The age well study: Year 1 findings. Evanston, IL.

McAuley, E., Morris, K. S., Motl, R. W., Hu, L., Konopack, J. F., & Elavsky, S. (2007). Long-term follow-up of physical activity behavior in older adults. *Health Psychology*, 26(3), 375.

Meisner, B. A., Weir, P. L., & Baker, J. (2013). The relationship between aging expectations and various modes of physical activity among aging adults. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 14(4), 569-576.

O'Brien, C. J., Smith, J. L., Bihary, J. G., O'Connor, D., & Basic, A. (2019). Wellness among life plan community residents: Relationship between culture and outcomes. *Seniors Housing & Care Journal* 27(1), 77-86.

Phoenix, C., & Orr, N. (2014). Pleasure: A forgotten dimension of physical activity in older age. Social Science & Medicine, 115, 94-102.

Rasinaho, M., Hirvensalo, M., Leinonen, R., Lintunen, T., & Rantanen, T. (2007). Motives for and barriers to physical activity among older adults with mobility limitations. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 15(1), 90-102.

Sawa, R., Asai, T., Misu, S., Murata, S., & Ono, R. (2018). The association between physical activity, including physical activity intensity, and fear of falling differs by fear severity in older adults living in the community. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby103

Sarkisian, C. A., Prohaska, T. R., Wong, M. D., Hirsch, S., & Mangione, C. M. (2005). The relationship between expectations for aging and physical activity among older adults. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 20(10), 911-915.

Schrempft, S., Jackowska, M., Hamer, M., & Steptoe, A. (2019). Associations between social isolation, loneliness, and objective physical activity in older men and women. *BMC public health*, 19(1), 74.

Seah, B., Kowitlawakul, Y., Jiang, Y., Ang, E., Chokkanathan, S., & Wang, W. (2018). A review on healthy ageing interventions addressing physical, mental and social health of independent community-dwelling older adults. *Geriatric Nursing*, 40(1), 37-50.

Smith, G. L., Banting, L., Eime, R., O'Sullivan, G., & Van Uffelen, J. G. (2017). The association between social support and physical activity in older adults: a systematic review. International *Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 56.

Steltenpohl, C. N., Shuster, M., Peist, E., Pham, A., & Mikels, J. A. (2018). Me time, or we time? Age differences in motivation for exercise. *The Gerontologist*. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny038

Tambor, M., Pavlova, M., Golinowska, S., Arsenijevic, J., & Groot, W. (2016). Financial incentives for a healthy life style and disease prevention among older people: a systematic literature review. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(5), 405-414.

Tate, L. M., Tsai, P. F., Landes, R. D., Rettiganti, M., & Lefler, L. L. (2015). Temporal discounting rates and their relation to exercise behavior in older adults. *Physiology & Behavior*, 152, 295-299.

Uemura, K., Yamada, M., & Okamoto, H. (2018). Effects of active learning on health literacy and behavior in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(9), 1721-1729.

Ulmer, C. S., Stetson, B. A., & Salmon, P. G. (2010). Mindfulness and acceptance are associated with exercise maintenance in YMCA exercisers. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(8), 805-809.

Van Zanten, J. J. V., Rouse, P. C., Hale, E. D., Ntoumanis, N., Metsios, G. S., Duda, J. L., & Kitas, G. D. (2015). Perceived barriers, facilitators and benefits for regular physical activity and exercise in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a review of the literature. *Sports Medicine*, 45(10), 1401-1412.

Warner, L. M., Ziegelmann, J. P., Schüz, B., Wurm, S., & Schwarzer, R. (2011). Synergistic effect of social support and self-efficacy on physical exercise in older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 19(3), 249-261.

Watt, R. G., Heilmann, A., Sabbah, W., Newton, T., Chandola, T., Aida, J., ... & Tsakos, G. (2014). Social relationships and health related behaviors among older US adults. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 533.

White, S. M., Wójcicki, T. R., & McAuley, E. (2011). Social cognitive influences on physical activity behavior in middle-aged and older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(1), 18-26.

Wolff, J. K., Warner, L. M., Ziegelmann, J. P., & Wurm, S. (2014). What do targeting positive views on ageing add to a physical activity intervention in older adults? Results from a randomised controlled trial. *Psychology & Health*, 29(8), 915-932.

Wurm, S., Tomasik, M. J., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2010). On the importance of a positive view on ageing for physical exercise among middle-aged and older adults: Cross-sectional and longitudinal findings. *Psychology and Health*, 25(1), 25-42.

Zhang, Z., & Chen, W. (2019). A systematic review of the relationship between physical activity and happiness. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 20(4), 1305-1322.

US Department of Health and Human Services (2008). 2008 physical activity guidelines for Americans. *ODPHP Publication No. U0036* 



#### Author: Dugan O'Connor, MS

Staffed by researchers, Mather Institute is an award-winning resource for research and information about wellness, aging, trends in senior living, and successful industry innovations. In order to support senior living communities and others that serve older adults, the Institute shares its cutting-edge research in areas including effective approaches to brain health, ways to enhance resilience, and successful employee wellness programs. Mather Institute is part of Mather, a nearly 80-year-old not-for-profit organization dedicated to creating Ways to Age Well.<sup>SM</sup>